Point  Paper  on  the  Ethics  Rules  That  Apply  to  

Executive  Branch  Employees  Who  Recently  Worked  Outside  the  U.S.  Government

1.
Stock ownership.  If an Executive Branch employee (“employee”) owns stock in a company, the employee is generally prohibited from participating personally and substantially in any government contract or other particular matter that would have a direct and predicable effect on the company’s financial interests.  [18 USC 208(a);  5 CFR 2635.402(a) & (b)]





A.
De minimis exception for participation in a “particular matter involving specific parties”. There is an exception for participation in a particular matter involving specific parties where the value of the stock owned is $5000 or less.  “Particular matter involving specific parties” is defined as follows.

Particular matter involving specific parties includes any judicial or other proceeding, application, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, investigation, charge, accusation, arrest or other particular matter involving a specific party or parties.  The term typically involves a specific proceeding affecting the legal rights of the parties, or an isolatable transaction or related set of transactions between identified parties.  [5 CFR 2640.102(l)]
The exception reads as follows.

An employee may participate in any particular matter involving specific parties in which the disqualifying financial interest arises from the ownership by the employee, his spouse or minor children of securities issued by one or more entities affected by the matter, if:  (1) The securities are publicly traded, or are long-term Federal Government, or are municipal securities;  and  (2) The aggregate market value of the holdings of the employee, his spouse, and his minor children in the securities of all entities does not exceed $5,000.  [5 CFR 2640.202(a)]
Here is an example of how this exception applies.

An employee owns 100 shares of publicly traded stock valued at $3,000 in XYZ Corporation.  As part of his official duties, the employee is evaluating bids for performing computer maintenance services at his agency and discovers that XYZ Corporation is one of the companies that has submitted a bid.  The employee is not required to recuse himself from continuing to evaluate the bids.  [5 CFR 2640.202(a)(Example 1)]
On  September 6, 2000, the Office of Government Ethics (“OGE”) published in the Federal Register (Volume 65, pages 53942-53946) a proposed change to the exception that would raise the value of the stock that can be owned from $5000 to $15,000.  The OGE has not yet published the change as a final rule, and thus the amount of the exception is still $5000.


B.
De minimis exception for participation in a “matter of general applicability.”  There is also an exception for participation by an employee in a matter of general applicability (such as drafting a regulation).  “Particular matter of general applicability means a particular matter that is focused on the interests of a discrete and identifiable class of persons, but does not involve specific parties.”  [5 CFR 2640.102(m)]  The exception reads as follows.

(b)(1)
An employee may participate in any particular matter of general applicability, such as rulemaking, in which the disqualifying financial interest arises from the ownership by the employee, his spouse or minor children of securities issued by one or more entities affected by the matter, if:

(i)
The securities are publicly traded, or are municipal securities, the market value of which does not exceed:

(A)
$25,000 in any one such entity;  and

(B)
$50,000 in all affected entities;  or

(ii)
The securities are long-term Federal Government securities, the market value of which does not exceed $50,000.

(2)
For purposes of this paragraph (b), the value of securities owned by the employee, his spouse, and minor children must be aggregated in applying the exemption.  [5 CFR 2640.202(b)]
Here is an example of how the $25,000 / $50,000 exception applies.

The Bureau of Export Administration at the Department of Commerce is in the process of formulating a regulation concerning exportation of portable computers.  The regulation will affect all domestic companies that sell portable computers.  An employee of the Department who is assisting in drafting the regulation owns $17,000 worth of stock in CompAmerica and $20,000 worth of stock in XYZ Computer Inc.  Even though the employee owns $37,000 worth of stock in companies that will be affected by the regulation, she may participate in drafting the regulation because the value of the securities she owns does not exceed $25,000 in any one affected company and the total value of stock owned in all affected companies does not exceed $50,000.  [5 CFR 2640.202(b)(Example 1)]
The de minimis exception for participation in matters of general applicability (5 CFR 2640.202(b)) is not affected by the proposed changes to 5 CFR Part 2640 that were published in the Federal Register on September 6, 2000.

2.
Disqualification from government matters that affect the company that sponsors the employee’s pension plan.  Can an Executive Branch employee participate in a government matter that affects the financial interests of a company, where the employee has an interest in a pension plan that is sponsored by the company?  The answer depends on whether the pension plan is a “defined contribution plan” or a “defined benefit plan.”

3.
Types of pension plans.  “Most pension plans fall within one of two categories.  A defined benefit plan is a type of retirement plan under which an employer makes payments to an investment pool which it holds and invests for all participating employees.  Defined benefit plans are the obligation of the employer.  Under this type of plan, participants receive a defined or specified benefit upon retirement, such as an annual income that is a specific percentage of the compensation received by the participant during a certain period of his employment.  A defined contribution plan is a retirement plan that establishes an individual account for each participant.  Under this type of plan, each participant will receive a retirement benefit that is based upon contributions to, and income generated by, the account.  The amount the employee will receive under a defined contribution plan may vary depending upon the gains, losses, and expenses that are attributable to the account.  Typically, the employer is the sponsoring organization of either type of pension plan.”  [OGE Informal Advisory Letter 99 X 6, 14 Apr 99, pg. 1]

4.
Disqualification rule where the pension plan is a defined contribution plan.  If an employee has vested rights in a “defined contribution plan” that is sponsored by a company that is his or her former employer, the employee generally may participate in a particular government matter that has a direct and predictable effect on the financial interests of the company.  In other words, disqualification is not required.  [OGE Informal Advisory Letter 99 X 6, pg. 1-2]  However, there is an exception to this rule.  “[I]f a defined contribution plan’s assets are controlled by company representatives or includes company stock, an employee should consider that she has a financial interest in official matters affecting the company.”  [OGE publication, Public Financial Disclosure:  A Reviewer’s Reference, 1996, page 7-17; see also OGE opinion 83 OGE 1, January 7, 1983, page 3 & footnote 6]  Thus, if an employee’s defined contribution plan includes stock of his or her former employer, the employee may not participate in any particular government matter that has a direct and predictable effect on the financial interests of the company (unless the participation would be allowed under one of the exceptions discussed in paragraph 1 above).

5.
Disqualification rules where the pension plan is a defined benefit plan.  There is a two-part rule if the pension plan is a defined benefit plan.

A.
First, if a particular government matter would have a direct and predictable effect on the sponsor’s ability or willingness to pay the employee’s pension benefit (such as a lawsuit by the government that could lead to the dissolution of the company), then the employee may not participate in that matter.  [OGE Informal Advisory Letter 99 X 6, 14 April 1999, page 2]
B
Second, if a particular government matter would not have a direct and predictable effect on the sponsor’s ability or willingness to pay the employee’s pension benefit, then the employee may participate in the matter, but only if the employee’s Agency Designee has first determined that the government’s need to have the employee work on the matter outweighs the appearance concerns that would result if the employee participates in the matter.  [OGE Informal Advisory Letter 99 X 6, page 2 & footnote 3;  5 CFR 2635.502(a)]  The Executive Branch ethics regulation sets forth six factors the Agency Designee may consider when making this determination.  [5 CFR 2635.502(d)]  Within DoD, the “Agency Designee” is generally defined as the first supervisor in the employee’s chain of command or supervision who is a commissioned military officer or civilian employee GS-12 or above.  [Joint Ethics Regulation, DoD 5500.7-R, para. 1-202]  Additional discussion of the disqualification rules related to the two types of pension plans can be found in the Addendum at the end of this point paper.

6.
Other rules regarding pension plans.

A.
Gift rules.  Executive Branch employees are generally prohibited from accepting gifts from “prohibited sources” (e.g., government contractors) or gifts that are offered because of their official position.  [5 CFR 2635.202(a)]  However, there are a number of things that are excluded from the definition of a “gift.”  One such item is “[p]ension and other benefits resulting from continued participation in an employee welfare and benefits plan maintained by a former employer.”  [5 CFR 2635.203(b)(6)]  Thus, an employee may receive pension benefits from a former employer without violating the rules on accepting gifts from outside sources.


B.
Supplementation of Federal salary.  18 USC 209(a) prohibits Executive Branch employees from receiving compensation from a non-Federal source for the performance of their official duties.  However, 18 USC 209(b) states:  






Nothing herein prevents an officer or employee of the executive branch of the United States Government, or of any independent agency of the United States, or of the District of Columbia, from continuing to participate in a bona fide pension, retirement, group life, health or accident insurance, profit-sharing, stock bonus, or other employee welfare or benefit plan maintained by a former employer.
Thus, an employee may continue to participate in pension plans and in the other benefit plans mentioned in the law without violating the supplementation of Federal salary statute (18 USC 209). 

C.
Reporting the pension on the financial disclosure report.  If an employee is required to complete the Public Financial Disclosure Report (SF 278), the employee must report any interest he or she has in a pension plan or annuity.   [5 CFR 2634.301(a) & (b)(8)]  Likewise, if an employee is required to complete the Confidential Financial Disclosure Report (OGE Form 450), the employee must report any interest he or she has in a pension plan or annuity.  [5 CFR 2634.301(a) & (b)(8);   5 CFR 2634.907(a)(1)]

7.
One-year discretionary disqualification rule.  If an Executive Branch employee has served, within the last year, as an officer, director, trustee, general partner, agent, attorney, consultant, contractor or employee of an organization (e.g., private company or educational institution), then the employee should not participate in any particular government matter involving the organization, unless the employee’s Agency Designee has first determined that the government’s need to have the employee work on the matter outweighs the appearance concerns that would result if the employee participates in the matter.  [5 CFR 2635.502(a)]

The Executive Branch ethics regulation sets forth six factors the Agency Designee may consider when making this determination.  [5 CFR 2635.502(d)]  Within DoD, the “Agency Designee” is generally defined as the first supervisor in the employee’s chain of command or supervision who is a commissioned military officer or civilian employee GS-12 or above.  [Joint Ethics Regulation, DoD 5500.7-R, para. 1-202]

8.
2-year disqualification based on extraordinary payment.  Unless a waiver is obtained, an employee may not participate for 2 years in any particular matter in which a former employer is a party (or represents a party) if the employee received an “extraordinary payment” from the former employer before entering Government service.  The 2-year period of disqualification begins to run on the date the extraordinary payment was received.  [5 CFR 2635.503(a)]

An “extraordinary payment” is defined as any item, including cash or an investment interest, with a value in excess of $10,000, which is (1) paid on the basis of a determination made after it became known to the former employer that the individual was being considered for or had accepted a Government position, and (2) paid other than pursuant to the former employer’s established compensation, partnership, or benefits program.  [5 CFR 2635.503(b)(1)]

9.
Employees who have an arrangement to return to former employer after government service.


A.
Disqualification requirement.  An Executive Branch employee is prohibited from participating personally and substantially in a particular matter if an organization (e.g., private company or educational institution) has a financial interest in the matter, and if the employee has “any arrangement concerning prospective employment” with that organization.  [18 USC 208(a)]  An employee who is on a leave of absence from his or her former employer (i.e., who has an agreement to return to the former employer) has an “arrangement concerning prospective employment” with the former employer, and thus may not participate personally and substantially in any particular government matter in which the former employer has a financial interest.  [See OGE Informal Advisory Opinion 79 X 4, August 17, 1979]


B.
Leave of absence from institution of higher education.  There are two special rules for when an Executive Branch employee is on a leave of absence from an institution of higher education.   The first rule reads as follows:

Employees on leave from institutions of higher education.  An employee on a leave of absence from an institution of higher education may participate in any particular matter of general applicability affecting the financial interests of the institution from which he is on leave, provided that the matter will not have a special or distinct effect on that institution other than as part of a class.  [5 CFR 2640.203(b)]

The second rule (5 CFR 2640.203(c)) applies when an Executive Branch employee is on a leave of absence from a multi-campus institution of higher education.  Examples of how these two rules apply can be found at 5 CFR 2640.203.  Neither of these rules is affected by the proposed changes to 5 CFR Part 2640 that were published in the Federal Register on September 6, 2000.

C.
Reporting leave of absence on financial disclosure reports.

If an Executive Branch employee will be taking a leave of absence from an employer while working for the U.S. Government, that fact must be reported on the employee’s financial disclosure report (whether a public or confidential report).  [5 CFR 2634.306 & .907(a)(5)]  The regulation imposing this requirement (5 CFR 2634.306) reads as follows.

Each financial disclosure report filed pursuant to this part, whether public or confidential, shall identify the parties to and the date of, and shall briefly describe the terms of, any agreement or arrangement of the filer in existence at any time during the reporting period with respect to:

(a)
Future employment;

(b)
A leave of absence from employment during the period of the reporting individual's Government service;

(c)
Continuation of payments by a former employer other than the United States Government;  and

(d)
Continuing participation in an employee welfare or benefit plan maintained by a former employer.

Addendum  to  Point  Paper

OGE Informal Advisory Letter 99 X 6, 14 April 1999, contains the following guidance on participating in a government matter that affects a company where an employee has a pension plan.

In applying [18 U.S.C.] section 208 to pension plan interests, we may be concerned about an employee's participation in a Government matter that could have an effect on the sponsoring organization that is responsible for funding or maintaining the Government employee's pension plan.  This concern normally arises with defined benefit plans, rather than defined contribution plans, because the sponsor of a defined benefit plan is obligated to fund the plan. For matters affecting the sponsor of a defined contribution plan, an employee's interest is not ordinarily a disqualifying financial interest under section 208 because the sponsor is not obligated to fund the employee's pension plan.

However, with defined benefit plans, the sponsor may be so closely linked to the pension plan and the particular matter in which the employee would participate may be so significant that the matter affecting the sponsor of the plan also will affect the sponsor's ability or willingness to pay the employee's pension.  This might be the case, for example, when an employee is assigned to participate in important litigation involving a company that is his former employer and that maintains a defined benefit pension plan in which he has a vested interest.  If the litigation could result in the dissolution of the sponsor organization and in its subsequent inability to pay the employee's pension, the employee's interest in his pension would be a disqualifying financial interest under section 208.  The employee would be disqualified from participating in the conduct of the litigation absent the issuance of a waiver under 18 U.S.C. § 208(b)(1).

OGE believes that, as a practical matter, most governmental matters in which an employee would participate are unlikely to have a direct and predictable effect on the plan sponsor's ability or willingness to pay the employee's pension.  For example, an employee who worked for IBM and who has an interest in a defined benefit plan sponsored by IBM may participate in the decision to deny an award of a $500,000 contract to IBM for the purchase of computers.  Although the decision affects IBM, given the large size and financial strength of the company, the denial is unlikely to have an effect on the ability or willingness of IBM to pay the employee's pension.  In such a case, the employee's interest in his defined benefit plan would not be a disqualifying financial interest under section 208.

In conclusion, we recommend that agencies no longer automatically presume that employees have a conflict of interest in matters affecting the sponsor of their defined benefit plans.  If an employee is assigned to participate in a particular matter that affects the sponsor of his defined benefit plan, the employee will not ordinarily have a disqualifying financial interest in his defined benefit plan under section 208, unless the matter would have a direct and predictable effect on the sponsor's ability or willingness to pay the employee's pension benefit.  Accordingly, ethics officials need not routinely issue waivers or require recusals for matters affecting the sponsors of defined benefit plans and should continue to examine each situation on an individual basis.  [OGE Letter 99 X 6, pages 1-2 (footnotes omitted)]

Mark Stone  /  Air Force Materiel Command Law Office  /  937-255-5700 ext 314  /  27 June 2001
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